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INTHE UNITED STATESDISTRICT COURT
FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF ILLINOIS
EASTERN DIVISION

ANTHONY PRICE,
Plaintiff,
V. 11 C 8548
PITT OHIO EXPRESS, LLC, JudgeJohn Z. Lee

Defendant.

N N N N N N N N N

MEMORANDUM OPINION AND ORDER

Pro se PlaintiffAnthony Pricehas sued Pitt Ohio Express, LLC (“Pitt Ohio”) for
terminating him based on race in violation of Title VII of the Civil Rights Act of418ditle
VII"), 42 U.S.C. 8§ 2000et seq. Pitt Ohig having complied with Local Rule 56.2 by providing
Plaintiff with a “Notice to Pro Se Litigant Opposing Motion for Summary Judgfhemow
moves for summary judgment pursuant to Federal Rule of Civil ProcedurEds@he reasons
stated herein, the Court gramsfendant’ssummary judgmeninotion.

Facts
Unless otherwise noted, the following facts are undisputed. In 2004, Pitt Ohio, a
company that provides trucking services, hifeédce as a truck driver. Price is African
American. Def.’d R 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. 11 3, 6, 7.

Pitt Ohio’s Substance Drug and Alcohol Policy states that any drivers whadein the
illegal use of drugs on or off duty” will be terminatettl. 9. All truck drivers who work for
Pitt Ohio are subject to the drug and alcohol regulations nechdey the U.S. Department of
Transportation and Federal Motor Carrier Safety Administration (“FMCSwhich includes

random drug testingld. § 14.
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Each quarterCompliance Safety Systems (“CSS”), a company that Pitt Ohio contracts to
randomly selecémployees for drug testing, sends an emahamagerat Pitt Ohio containing
list of selected employeesld. | 15; Def.’s Ex. 9, Sakas Dep. at 10ESS predetermines
whether the drivers who are randomly selected will undergo a dsu@tt a breathlcohol test.
Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. q 25.

If randomly selected, an employee must go to Concentra Medical Gentleug tesing.

Id. 1 15; Def.’s Ex. 9, Sakas Dep. at 128. It is undisputed that, since 2007, Pitt Ohio has
terminated every driven its Chicagoterminal who las failed a random drug tesbef.’s LR
56.1(a)(3) Stmt. { 12.

On October 19, 2010, Price was notified that he had been selected tadakiera drug
test. Id. § 30. This was Price’s first random drug test since henbegeking for Pitt Ohio in
2004. Id. 1 31.

During the fourth quarter of 201@ive otherPitt Ohiotruck driverswere notified that
they had been randomly selected to take a drug t&st: Jennings, who igfrican-American
Johnny Molina, Anton Mollas, andSalvador Salcedavho are alHispanic;and John Winkler
who is Caucasian Id. I 32. They, along with Price underwent drug testing at Concentra
Medical Center. Bf.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. { 33. The drug test results for Jennings, Molina,
Moraes, Salcedoand Winkler were negativeld.; Def.’s Ex 4, Results for Fourth Quarter 2010
Drug Test Results, at PITTOO0HBITTO000152. However, Pritetest indicatedositive for
marijuana. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. § 13; Def.’s Ex 4, Results for Fourth Quarter 201§ Dr
Test Results, at PITTO0014T fact, Price concedes that he used marijuana in September 2010.
Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt.  11.

On October 21, 201QJeff Mercadante, who waBitt Ohio’s Director of Safetyand

whose office was located #te company’'sorporate headquarteirs Pittsourgh, Pennsylvania,



receivedthe results oPrice’s drug tesanddecidedto terminate Pricébased on the failed drug
test Def.’s Ex. 11 MercadanteDecl. ] 5-6. On October 22, 2010/ercadantenotfied Price
that he was terminated becatmshad tested positive for marijuan®ef.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt.
113.

In opposition to summary judgment, Plaintiff points to certain evidence that, in his view
indicates that Pitt Ohio discriminated againish based on his race. FirBaintiff states thahe
had never been randomly selected for drug testing prior to October Zbd€bnd, Plaintiff
argues, and Pitt Ohio disputes, that, when his supervisor, Roman Sakas, notified thehdtivers t
they had ben selected for a drug test, Sagase Plaintiff, but not Salceda, Federal Drug
Testing Custody and Control Form that was typically used in situations whereigdrigstedor
drugsat a facility other than Concentr&Compare id.J 35,with Pl.’'s LR56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. {
35. Additionally, Plaintiff cites to mother driver, Richard Pherigo, whad violated Pitt Ohio’s
Substance Drug and Alcohol Policy in 2010, but wasterminated byPitt Ohio. Instead,
Pherigowas permitted to workt Pitt Ohio wntil June 4, 2011 Def.’s Ex. 13, Pherigo Decl. { 8.
It is undisputed, however, that to the extent that Pherigo had violated the pdicgadantdad
not been informed of it. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. { 23.

Discussion

“The court shall grantusnmay judgment i the movant shows that there is no genuine
disputeas to any material fact and the maavis entitled to judgment as a matter of lawFéd.
R. Civ. P. 56(a. The court gives “the nemoving party the benefit of conflicts in the evidence
andreasonable inferences that could be drawn from@rbchocinski v. Mayer Brown Rowe &
Maw, LLP, 719 F.3d 785, 794 (7th Ci2013). In order to survive summary judgment, the
nonmoving party must “do more than simply show that there is some metaphysical daubt as t

the material facts,Matsushita Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cofg5 U.S. 574, 5861986),



and“must establish some genuine issue for trial such that a reasonable jury aoula regrdict
in her favor,”Gordon v. FedEx Freight, Inc674 F.3d 769, 772-73 (7th Cir. 2012).

Title VII prohibits employers from discriminating against an employee “becduse®
color, religion, sex, or national origin 42 U.S.C. § 20008(a)(1). “[A] plaintiff may prove
discrimination either directly aindirectly.” Coleman v. Donahgeé67 F.3d 835, 845 (7th Cir.
2012).

“To avoid summary judgment under the direct approach, the plaintiff must produce
sufficient evidence, either direct or circumstantial, to create a triablstigueof intentional
discrimination in the employer’s decision.Silverman v. Bd. of Educ. of the City of Clai37
F.3d 729, 733 (7th Cir. 2011). Under this approatife tircumstantial evidence must be strong
enough, taken as a whole, to allow the trier of fact to draw thessegeinference.”Morgan v.
SVT, LLC 724 F.3d 990, 995 (7th Cir. 2013). In other words, it must “lead . . . directly to the
conclusion that an employer was illegally motivated, without reliance on spenul&ood v.
Univ. of Chi. Med. Ctr 673 F.3d 670, 676 (7th Cir. 2012).ypes of circumstantialevidence
usedunder the direct approadhclude: “(1) ambiguous statements or behavior towards other
employees in the protected group; (2) evidence, statistical or othervasesirthlarly situated
employees outside of the protected group systematically receive better treatmdn(3)
evidence that the employer offered a pretextual reason for an adverse emplagtneri’ Diaz
v. Kraft Foods Global, In¢ 653 F.3d 582, 587 (7th Cir. 2011).

“A plaintiff also may proceed under the indirect, burgaiiting method adapted from
McDonnell Douglas Corp. v. Greed1l U.S. 792, 802, 93 &t. 1817, 36 L.Ed. 2d 668
(1973).” I1d. Under the indirect method, “a plaintiff must produce evidence that he (1)gselon
to a proteted class, (2) met his employgiegitimate performance expectations, (3) suffered an

adverse employment action, and (4) was treated worse than similarly situategiesmputside



the protected class.’Rodgers v. White657 F.3d 511, 517 (7th CiRe011). “If the plaintiff
satisfies these requirements, the burden shifts to the defendant to offetiraateginon
discriminatory reason for the employment actioBates v. City of Chi.726 F.3d 951, 955 (7th
Cir. 2013). “If the employer dasfies that burden of production, the plaintiffs must establish by a
preponderance of the evidence that the proffered reasons for the allegedrthsory action are
pretextual.” Radentz v. Marion Cnty640 F.3d 754, 757 (7th Cir. 2011).

Undereitherthe direct or indirecapproach, Price has failed to create a triable issue as to
whether Pitt Ohio intentionally discriminated against him based on race whemirtated him.

In opposingsummary judgmen®riceraises four arguments ttemonstrate thanis termination
was motivated by racial animu$he Court addresses each in turn.

First, Price believes that his selection to undergo a drug test in 2011 was motivated by
race based on the fact the¢ had worked for Pitt Ohio since 2004 and hadbee&n randomly
selectedprior to that time But, this fact alone does noeatea reasonable inference thiice’s
selection in 2011 was based upon his race. Indeed, the record is devoid of any factsi¢fom w
atrier of fact coulddetermine the probdhy that any particular driver would have been selected
for a random drug test during the period form 2004 and .20ideed, it is quite possible that
other norAfrican American drivers were selected on more than one occasion during tleatelev
time peiod. In any event, Price has failed to present any facts that would indieateS8’
selectionof his name for drug testing was inconsistent with random selection.

Second, Price points otltat when his supervisoRoman Sakas)otified him that e had
beenselected forrandomdrug testing,Price was handed a fornthat was typically used in
situations where driver is tested for drugs at a facilitgiothan Concentraln contrastSalcedo,
another employee who had been randomly selected fortdstigg, was not CompareDef.’s

LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. § 3%yith PI.’s LR56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. 7 35.



From this, Price appears to argue that because he was provided this foimadhe
undergoa more rigoous drug testingrotocolthan the other driversBut, again, he record is
devoid of any facts to suppottiis argument. In fact, Pricelsocal Rule 56.1statement of
additionalfacts d@s not establish the purpose of the form; whether the form required him to
provide informationthat the other driverswere not required to provigdevhether Price was
required to fill at the form whether Price, in fact, ever filled out the forar whether Pitt Ohio
referred to the form when deciding to terminate his employm@iven the uncontroverted fact
that CSSnot Pitt Ohio,randomly selected the five truck drivers to be drug tested in the fourth
quarter of 2011that all fivetruck driversunderwentrugtesting, and that only Price failed the
drug test, no rational jury could hold thhe mere fact that Pecwas given a form that the other
four truck driversivere not is in and of itself evidence of a racially motivated termination.

Third, Price contendsthat another ceworker, Mohammed Hammouedtestified that
Price’s supervisor, Romddakas had statedhat“he was going to get [Mr. Pricé] According
to Plaintiff, Hammouedh believethis to mean that'Sakas wantedb terminate the Plaintiff.”

Pl.’s Resp. Br. 5. This argument has two flaws.

First, kecausePrice did not include this purported fact either in response to Defendant’s
LR 56.1statement of facts or in his ovatatement of additional factthis fact is not properly
before the CourtSeePl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. 11-36; Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. Y 1-17.
FurthermorePrice provides no citation to the record to support the statement, and the Court is
not obligated tsearch the record to find support for tadtstatements that were not included in
the parties’ LR 56.5tatement of fact.SeePl.’s Resp. Br. 5. That said, the Cofails to find
any mention of such a statement in the portion of Hammouedh’s deposition that Plaintiff

provides Pl.’s Ex. H, Hammouedh Dept 2932), Sakas’s deposition (Pl.’s Ex. A, Sakas Dep.



at 1:113), Price’s deposition (Pl.’s Ex. B, Price Deplat4), orPrice’sown declaratior(Pl.’s
Ex. E, Price Declfl{ 220).

Furthermoregven if Price were able to surmounistbrocedural and evidentiahurdle,
Sakas’s statemeat mostshows that Sakas wanted to terminate Phoéhere is no evidende
suggest that Sakas’ desire was motived by Price’s race. And, in any evestyw&s fired by
Mercadante, not Sak, and theecordis devoid of any evidence to suggest that Sakasrad
into Price’s termination.

Fourth Price points to anothéruck driver,Richard Pherigo, who also had violateut
Ohio’s Substance Drug and Alcohol Policy, but was not termind®eide’s reliance on Pherigo
is twdfold. First, Price argues th&herigois a similarly situated employa®t in the protected
class who received more favorable treatment than he. Next, Price contends that Pherigo’s
circumstances demonstrate that Pitt Ohioigcation of the failed drug test when firing Price
was merely a pretext for race discrimination. Neither argummgrgrsuaive.

Price’s argument that he and Pherigo are similarly situated simply is not teapppithe
record. “[T] he similarlysituated inquiry is flexible, commesense, and factual.Coleman 667
F.3dat 841. The courtasks. “are there enough common feiss between the individuals to
allow a meaningful comparisoh™Humphries v. CBOCS West, Ind74 F.3d 387, 405 (7th Cir.
2007). “[T] he purpose of the similarly situated requirement is to eliminate confounding
variables, such as differing roles, perfamse histories, or decisioanaking personnel, which
helps isolate the critical independent variable: complaints about discrimihdtionHere, the
parties’ LR 56.1 statements of fact do ndéntify Pherigo’s race making it impossible to
determine whéter he is a member of the protected claSeeDef.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. -1
56; Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. %36; Pl.’s LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. {%17; Def.’'s Resp. Pl.’s

LR 56.1(b)(3)(C) Stmt. 11-17. Of course, if Pherigo is AfricaAmerican, Fice’s claim fails.



But, even if Pherigo isnot a member ofhe protected clasga number of factors preclude the
finding that Pherigo and Price are similarly situated.

Both Priceand Pherigo were truck driveas Pitt Ohio’s Chicago terminandthatthey
had the same supervistnutthat is where the similarities ends for Price, i is undisputed that
Pitt Ohio reliedon CSS to randomly select cert&itt Ohio employeesncluding Price, for drug
testing diring the fourth quarter of 2010Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. Y 15, Z25. CSS sen
Pitt Ohio an email with the randomly selected employees’ naaneésaPitt Ohioemployeehen
notified the employees of their selectioid. The selected employees weested at Concentra
Medical Center Id. 1 15. A medical review officer at Concentra Medical Centriewedthe
test results anahformed Jeff Mercadante, Pitt Ohig’Director of Safetywho works in Pitt
Ohio’s headquarters in Pittsburgh, Pennsylvaofathe test results.Id. I 13; Def.'s Ex 11,
Mercadante Decl. { 5.Because Price’s test results showed that he had tested positive for
marijuana, and Pitt Ohio’s poliag to terminate any driver who “engages in the illegal use of
drugs on or off duty,” Mercadante decidede@aminate Price Id. 11 9, 13.And, significantly, it
is undisputed that Mercane decided to terminate Pribased on théailed random drug test
and this decision was made without input from Sakas. Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. { 13.

In comparison, Pherigo’s purported violation of the substance abuse policy consisted of
drinking alcohol on the job. He was not sulgedb a random drug test, and the parties dispute
whether Sakas hagasonable cause to subject Pherigo to alcohol testing in*2@i@wever,
even if tre Court were to assume that Sakas should have subjected Pherigo to alcoholttesting, t

fact that Sakas did not do so, at best, creates a reasonable inference thataSakabad

! For exanple, it is disputed whether other workers smelled alcohol on Pherig@thlmepeatedly

at work such that it would be obvious to Sakas that Pherigo was workireyuvigier the influence. Pl.’s
LR 56.1(b)(3)(B) Stmt. | 43. It is also disputed whether Sakas had to pick up PheiigpRherigo’s
route on one occasion in June/July 2010 because he had been under the influendeeoPiveego was
having a panic attack unrelated to any consumption of alcadhof. 46.



supervisor for not enforcing Pitt Ohio’s alcohol policy. It does not ciead@sonable inference
thatthe decision to termination Price, which was made MercadamtdViercadante aloneas
racially motivated.

This distinction is material. Fof the recorccontained any facts or inferences that would
supportthe notion thatSakas contributed to the decision to terminate Price or could have
prevented Price’s termination, but elected not to do so, then a trial would be nedessar
determine whether the difference in Sakas’ purported treatment of Pherigoi@av& based
on a prohibited racial animus. But no such facts are in the record. Along the sameaiinas, |
there are no facts from which a jury can infer that Sakas had a hand in Priceiatiermit also
is undisputed that Mercadante was unaware that Pherigo had supposedly violated the policy
Def.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmt. T 23Accordingly, Plaintiff's efforts to cast Pherigo as a similarly
situated employee failsSee Coleman v. Donahp&67 F.3d 835, 8448 (7th Cir. 2012)
(explaining that courts “generally gqeire[-] a plaintiff to demonstrate at a minimum that a
comparator was treated more favorably by the same decsa&er who fired the plaintiff.”);
Little v. lll. Dep't of Revenue369 F.3d 1007, 1012 (7th Ci2004) (*A similarly-situated
employee must &ve been disciplined, or not, by the same decisionmaker who imposed an
adverse employnm action on the plaintiff.”).

Lastly, no rational jury could find tha¥lercadante’s reason for terminating Price was a
pretext for race discrimination.Pretext may & established directly with evidence that [the
employer] was more likely than not motivated by a discriminatory reason, or cihylitey
evidence that the employsrexplanation is not credible.Sarsha v. Sears, Roebuck & (8.

F.3d 1035, 1039 (7th Cin993) (citations omitted).“Creating a triable pretext issue with
indirect evidence is a difficult task. ..” Guerrero v. Ashcroft253 F.3d 309, 313 (7th Cir.

2001). The plaintiff must showthat “an employes proffered reasons are not credible. by



demonstrating that the reasons are factually baseless, were notuéak naativation for the
discharge, or were insufficient to motivate the dischargackson v. E.J. Brach Cord76 F.3d
971, 983 (7th Cir. 1999).

Price concedes that he usedripana in September 2010, prior to his drug test in
October 2010, and thus no reasonable jury could conclude that his termination for testing
positive for marijuana was factually baseleSgeDef.’s LR 56.1(a)(3) Stmf] 11. Given that it
is undisputedthat Mercadantedecided to terminate Pricater receivingthe results ofPrice’s
failed drug tesfrom Concentra Health Center, without any input from Saltas without any
first or secondhand knowledge that Pherigo was ever under the influence of alcohd, atovor
rational jury could find that the failed drug test was not the actual motivatiorrioe’s
termination Seeid. 1113, 23 Finally, given the undisputed fatttat since 2007, Pitt Ohio has
consistently terminated every driver in its Clgoalrerminal who has failed a random drug test,
no rational jury could find that Price’s failed drug test wmasnsufficientbasisto motivate Pitt
Ohio’s termination of his employmenSeed. I 12.

In sum, under either the direct or indirect method;ePnas failed to create a triable issue
of material fact regarding whether his termination was motivated by ré&aceordingly, the
Court grants Defendant’s motion for summary judgment.

Conclusion

For the reasons set forth herein, the Caydns Pitt Ohio’s motion for summary

judgment [doc. no. 65]This case is hereby terminated.

SO ORDERED ENTER: 3/18/14

Lﬁjé&/\

JOHN Z. LEE
United States District Judge
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